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Section 14522(a) defines the term ‘‘length’’ as it is 

used in the simplified measurement system. 

Section 14522(b) requires the Secretary to assign 

gross and net tonnages under the simplified system, 

based on a vessel’s length, breadth, depth, other dimen-

sions and appropriate coefficients, as the Secretary 

deems appropriate. 

Section 14522(c) provides that the gross tonnages as 

measured under this section shall reflect the relative 

internal volumes of vessels. It provides further that the 

net tonnages measured under this section shall be in 

approximately the same ratio to corresponding gross 

tonnages as are the net and gross tonnages of com-

parable vessels measured under the standard regulatory 

measurement system. 

CHAPTER 147—PENALTIES 

Sec. 

14701. General violation. 

14702. False statements. 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

This chapter provides for penalties for violations of 

Part J—Measurement of Vessels. 

§ 14701. General violation 

The owner, charterer, managing operator, 
agent, master, and individual in charge of a ves-
sel violating this part or a regulation prescribed 
under this part are each liable to the United 
States Government for a civil penalty of not 
more than $20,000. Each day of a continuing vio-
lation is a separate violation. The vessel also is 
liable in rem for the penalty. 

(Added Pub. L. 99–509, title V, § 5101(3), Oct. 21, 
1986, 100 Stat. 1925.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section 14701 

Source: Section (U.S. Code) 46 App. U.S.C. 83j. 

Section 14701 provides that the owner, charterer, 

managing operator, agent, master, and individual in 

charge of a vessel violating Part J—Measurement of 

Vessels—are each liable to the U.S. Government for a 

civil penalty of not more than $20,000. It also provides 

that the vessel is liable in rem for the penalty and that 

each day of a continuing violation is a separate viola-

tion. 

§ 14702. False statements 

A person knowingly making a false statement 
or representation in a matter in which a state-
ment or representation is required by this part 
or a regulation prescribed under this part is lia-
ble to the United States Government for a civil 
penalty of not more than $20,000 for each false 
statement or representation. The vessel also is 
liable in rem for the penalty. 

(Added Pub. L. 99–509, title V, § 5101(3), Oct. 21, 
1986, 100 Stat. 1925.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section 14702 

Source: Section (U.S. Code) 46 App. U.S.C. 83i. 

Section 14702 provides that a person knowingly mak-

ing a false statement or representation in a matter in 

which a statement or representation is required by this 

part or a regulation prescribed under this part is liable 

to the United States Government for a civil penalty of 

not more than $20,000 for each false statement or rep-

resentation. It further provides that the vessel is liable 

in rem for the penalty. This penalty is increased from 

$1,000 in existing law and conforms with the level of 

similar penalties throughout the subtitle. 

Subtitle III—Maritime Liability 

Chap. Sec. 

301. General .................................................. 30101 
[Chapters 303–311—Reserved] 

313. Commercial Instruments and Mari-
time Liens .......................................... 31301 

[Chapter 315—Reserved] 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Section 101 [102] of H.R. 3105 revises, consolidates, and 

enacts certain general and permanent laws of the 

United States related to commercial instruments and 

liens and public vessels and goods. It amends subtitle 

III of title 46, United States Code by striking at the end 

‘‘Chapters 313, 315—Reserved’’ and substituting ‘‘Chap-

ter 313—Commercial Instruments and Maritime Liens’’. 

Chapter 313 is essentially a codification of the Ship 

Mortgage Act, 1920 (46 App. U.S.C. 911–984). H.R. 3105 is 

the second step in the process of enacting laws com-

piled in title 46 of the Code into positive law. The first 

step in the codification process began in 1983 when cer-

tain general and permanent laws related to vessels and 

seamen were enacted as subtitle II of the title 46, 

United States Code. 

HOUSE FLOOR STATEMENT 

Section 102 of this bill adds a new subtitle III to title 

46, which contains a codification of the Ship Mortgage 

Act, 1920 and other related provisions. A previous ver-

sion of this codification and the remaining sections of 

the bill were recently reported by the Merchant Marine 

and Fisheries Committee in H.R. 3105 (H. Rept. 100–918). 

The significant additions or changes by this provision 

to the version of H.R. 3105 reported by the Merchant 

Marine and Fisheries Committee are explained as fol-

lows: [see sections 30101, 31305, 31321, 31322, 31325, 31329, 

31330, 31343 of this title]. 

SUBTITLE REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This subtitle is referred to in title 28 section 1605. 

CHAPTER 301—GENERAL 

Sec. 

30101. Definitions. 

CHAPTER REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This chapter is referred to in title 42 section 9118. 

§ 30101. Definitions 

In this subtitle— 
(1) ‘‘documented vessel’’ means a vessel doc-

umented under chapter 121 of this title; 
(2) ‘‘foreign vessel’’ means a vessel of foreign 

registry or operated under the authority of a 
foreign country; 

(3) ‘‘public vessel’’ means (except in chapter 
315 of this title) a vessel that is owned, demise 
chartered, or operated by the United States 
Government or a government of a foreign 
country; 

(4) ‘‘recreational vessel’’ means a vessel— 
(A) operated primarily for pleasure; or 
(B) leased, rented, or demise chartered to 

another for the latter’s pleasure; 

(5) ‘‘seaman’’ means a master or a crew-
member of a vessel in operation; 

(6) ‘‘State’’ means a State of the United 
States, Guam, Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, 
American Samoa, the District of Columbia, 
the Northern Mariana Islands, and any other 
territory or possession of the United States; 

(7) ‘‘State vessel’’ means a vessel owned or 
demise chartered by the government of a 



Page 153 TITLE 46—SHIPPING § 30101 

State or an authority or a political subdivi-
sion of a State; 

(8) ‘‘United States’’, when used in a geo-
graphic sense, means the States of the United 
States, Guam, Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, 
American Samoa, the District of Columbia, 
the Northern Mariana Islands, and any other 
territory or possession of the United States; 
and 

(9) ‘‘vessel of the United States’’ means a 
vessel documented under chapter 121 of this 
title, numbered under chapter 123 of this title, 
or titled under the law of a State. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4738.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

30101(1) ........................................ 46:911(1), (2), (4) 
30101(2) ........................................ 2101 
30101(3) ........................................ New 
30101(4) ........................................ 2101 
30101(5) ........................................ New 
30101(6) ........................................ 2101 
30101(8), (9) .................................. 2101 

This section defines general terms to be used 

throughout subtitle III of title 46. Some of the terms 

will not be used in chapter 313, but will be used in other 

chapters in the subtitle when they are codified. 

Section 30101(1) defines a ‘‘documented vessel’’ to be 

a vessel documented under chapter 121 of title 46. 

Section 30101(2) defines a ‘‘foreign vessel’’ to be a ves-

sel of a foreign registry or operated under the author-

ity of a foreign country. This definition is from section 

2101 of the already codified subtitle II of title 46. 

Section 30101(3) defines a ‘‘public vessel’’ to be a ves-

sel that is owned, demise chartered, or operated by the 

United States Government or a government of a foreign 

country. 

Section 30101(4) defines a ‘‘recreational vessel’’ to be 

a vessel used primarily for pleasure; or leased, rented, 

or demise chartered to another for the latter’s pleas-

ure. This is the same definition as in section 2101. 

Section 30101(5) defines a ‘‘seaman’’ to be a master or 

a crewmember of a vessel in operation. 

Section 30101(6) defines a ‘‘State’’ to mean the States 

of the United States, Guam, Puerto Rico, the Virgin Is-

lands, American Samoa, the District of Columbia, the 

Northern Mariana Islands, and any other territory or 

possession of the United States. This is the same defini-

tion as in section 2101. 

Section 30101(7) defines a ‘‘State vessel’’ to be a vessel 

owned or demise chartered by the government of a 

State or an authority or political subdivision of a 

State. 

Section 30101(8) defines the ‘‘United States’’ when it 

is used in a geographic sense. This means the States of 

the United States, Guam, Puerto Rico, the Virgin Is-

lands, American Samoa, the District of Columbia, the 

Northern Mariana Islands, and any other territory or 

possession of the United States. This is the same defini-

tion as in section 2101. 

Section 30101(9) defines a ‘‘vessel of the United 

States’’ to be a vessel that is documented under chap-

ter 121 or numbered under chapter 123. This is the same 

definition as in section 2101. 

HOUSE FLOOR STATEMENT 

Paragraph (9) of this section amends the definition of 

‘‘vessel of United States’’ to include vessels titled 

under the law of a State. 

EFFECTIVE DATE 

Section 107 of title I of Pub. L. 100–710 provided that: 

‘‘(a) This title and amendments made by this title 

[enacting sections 12501 to 12507, 30101, 31301 to 31309, 

31321 to 31330, and 31341 to 31343 of this title, amending 

sections 2101, 2110, 12102, 12103, 12105, 12109 to 12112, 

12117, 12119, and 12120 of this title and sections 808, 1242, 

and 1271 of the Appendix to this title, repealing sec-

tions 12113 to 12116, 12118, and 12121 of this title and sec-

tions 838, 840, 911, 921 to 927, 941, 951 to 954, 961, 971 to 

975, 981 to 984, and 1011 to 1014 of the Appendix to this 

title, enacting provisions set out as notes under sec-

tions 12501, 12502, and 12505 of this title and preceding 

section 2101 of this title, and repealing provisions set 

out as a note under section 961 of the Appendix to this 

title and in Title 5, Appendix, Government Organiza-

tion and Employees] take effect on January 1, 1989. 

However, sections 31321 and 31322 of title 46 (as enacted 

by section 102 of this Act), United States Code (as sec-

tions 31321 and 32322 [probably should be 31322] apply to 

vessels for which an application for documentation has 

been filed), take effect on January 1, 1990. 

‘‘(b) An instrument filed before January 1, 1989, but 

not recorded before that date, is deemed to comply 

with section 31321 of title 46, United States Code, if it 

is in substantial compliance with the provisions in that 

section that had corresponding requirements under the 

law on December 31, 1988. However, the mortgage may 

not become a preferred mortgage until the vessel is 

documented. 

‘‘(c) This title and the amendments made by this title 

do not affect the validity of any instrument filed or re-

corded before January 1, 1989, if there was a correspond-

ing requirement under the law on December 31, 1988. 

‘‘(d) An instrument filed or recorded before January 

1, 1989, is deemed to comply with any new requirement 

under chapter 313 of title 46, United States Code (as en-

acted by section 102 of this Act), affecting the validity 

of that instrument. 

‘‘(e) Section 102 of this Act and amendments made by 

that section [enacting sections 30101, 31301 to 31309, 

31321 to 31330, and 31341 to 31343 of this title and provi-

sions set out as a note preceding section 2101 of this 

title] do not affect any civil action filed before January 

1, 1989. 

‘‘(f) Section 104(b) of this Act and the amendments 

made by section 104(b) of this Act [amending section 808 

of the Appendix to this title] do not apply to any 

change in control resulting from, or which may at any 

time result from, any proposed plan of reorganization 

filed under the United States bankruptcy laws prior to 

the date of enactment of this Act [Nov. 23, 1988], except 

that transactions undertaken as a result of such a plan 

shall continue to be governed by section 9 of the Ship-

ping Act, 1916 (46 App. U.S.C. 808), as it existed prior to 

the date of enactment of this Act, to the extent that 

such section 9 would have governed such transactions.’’ 

SECTION REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This section is referred to in title 11 section 1110. 

[CHAPTERS 303–311—RESERVED] 

CHAPTER 313—COMMERCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
AND MARITIME LIENS 

SUBCHAPTER I—GENERAL 

Sec. 

31301. Definitions. 

31302. Availability of instruments, copies, and infor-

mation. 

31303. Certain civil actions not authorized. 

31304. Liability for noncompliance. 

31305. Waiver of lien rights. 

31306. Declaration of citizenship. 

31307. State statutes superseded. 

31308. Secretary of Commerce or Transportation as 

mortgagee. 

31309. General civil penalty. 

SUBCHAPTER II—COMMERCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

31321. Filing, recording, and discharge. 

31322. Preferred mortgages. 
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Sec. 

31323. Disclosing and incurring obligations before 

executing preferred mortgages. 

31324. Retention and examination of mortgages of 

vessels covered by preferred mortgages. 

31325. Preferred mortgage liens and enforcement. 

31326. Court sales to enforce preferred mortgage 

liens and maritime liens and priority of 

claims. 

31327. Forfeiture of mortgagee interest. 

31328. Limitations on parties serving as trustees of 

mortgaged vessel interests. 

31329. Court sales of documented vessels. 

31330. Penalties. 

SUBCHAPTER III—MARITIME LIENS 

31341. Persons presumed to have authority to pro-

cure necessaries. 

31342. Establishing maritime liens. 

31343. Recording and discharging liens on preferred 

mortgage vessels. 

CHAPTER REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This chapter is referred to in section 12111 of this 

title; section 1271 of Appendix to this title; title 42 sec-

tion 9118; title 49 section 11303. 

SUBCHAPTER I—GENERAL 

§ 31301. Definitions 

In this chapter— 
(1) ‘‘acknowledge’’ means making— 

(A) an acknowledgment or notarization be-
fore a notary public or other official author-
ized by a law of the United States or a State 
to take acknowledgments of deeds; or 

(B) a certificate issued under the Hague 
Convention Abolishing the Requirement of 
Legalisation for Foreign Public Documents, 
1961; 

(2) ‘‘district court’’ means— 
(A) a district court of the United States 

(as defined in section 451 of title 28); 
(B) the District Court of Guam; 
(C) the District Court of the Virgin Is-

lands; 
(D) the District Court for the Northern 

Mariana Islands; 
(E) the High Court of American Samoa; 

and 
(F) any other court of original jurisdiction 

of a territory or possession of the United 
States; 

(3) ‘‘mortgagee’’ means— 
(A) a person to whom property is mort-

gaged; or 
(B) when a mortgage on a vessel involves a 

trust, the trustee that is designated in the 
trust agreement; 

(4) ‘‘necessaries’’ includes repairs, supplies, 
towage, and the use of a dry dock or marine 
railway; 

(5) ‘‘preferred maritime lien’’ means a mari-
time lien on a vessel— 

(A) arising before a preferred mortgage 
was filed under section 31321 of this title; 

(B) for damage arising out of maritime 
tort; 

(C) for wages of a stevedore when em-
ployed directly by a person listed in section 
31341 of this title; 

(D) for wages of the crew of the vessel; 

(E) for general average; or 
(F) for salvage, including contract salvage; 

and 

(6) ‘‘preferred mortgage’’— 
(A) means a mortgage that is a preferred 

mortgage under section 31322 of this title; 
and 

(B) also means in sections 31325 and 31326 
of this title, a mortgage, hypothecation, or 
similar charge that is established as a secu-
rity on a foreign vessel if the mortgage, 
hypothecation, or similar charge was exe-
cuted under the laws of the foreign country 
under whose laws the ownership of the vessel 
is documented and has been registered under 
those laws in a public register at the port of 
registry of the vessel or at a central office. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4739.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31301(1), (2) .................................. New 
31301(3) ........................................ 46:911(5) 
31301(4) ........................................ Derived from 46:971–974 
31301(5) ........................................ 46:953(a) 
31301(6)(A) ................................... 46:922(b) 
31301(6)(B) ................................... 46:951 (2d par. less proviso) 

Section 31301(1) defines the term ‘‘acknowledge’’. 

This paragraph makes a substantive change to law to 

expand the current law by allowing a notarization 

under State law, a form prescribed by the Secretary, as 

well as a certificate issued under the Hague Convention 

Abolishing the Requirement of Legalisation for For-

eign Public Documents, 1961. 
Section 31301(2) defines ‘‘district court’’. This para-

graph makes a substantive change to law by including 

the District Court of Guam, the District Court of the 

Virgin Islands, the District Court of the Northern Mari-

ana Islands, the High Court of American Samoa, and 

other Federal territorial courts as they are established. 

Under current law, only the district courts of the 

United States have jurisdiction under the Ship Mort-

gage Act, 1920. 
Section 31301(3) defines ‘‘mortgagee’’ as a person to 

whom property is mortgaged and the trustee author-

ized under section 31328 that is designated in the trust 

agreement. 
Section 31301(4) defines ‘‘necessaries’’ to include re-

pairs, supplies, towage, and the use of a drydock and 

marine railway for a vessel. As in all codifications, the 

term ‘‘includes’’ means ‘‘includes but is not limited to’’ 

and, therefore, is not intended to be an exclusive listing 

of those items that a court has determined or may de-

termine as falling within the meaning of the term 

‘‘other necessaries’’ as contained in current law. The 

definition is new, is based on 46 App. U.S.C. 971–974, and 

makes no substantive change to law. 
Section 31301(5) defines ‘‘preferred maritime lien’’ to 

mean a lien on a vessel that arises before a preferred 

mortgage was filed under section 31321 of this title for 

damages arising out of maritime tort, stevedore wages, 

crew wages, general average, and salvage. The defini-

tion is new and is based on 46 App. U.S.C. 953(a). The 

only substantive change to law made by this paragraph 

is to change the effective date from the day the pre-

ferred mortgage is recorded and endorsed to when it is 

filed. This change is in keeping with other changes 

with regard to filing. The term ‘‘duly and validly’’ that 

is in existing law is not used because it is unnecessary. 

An instrument that is not ‘‘duly and validly’’ executed 

is not executed under the laws of the foreign country. 

This makes no substantive change to law. 
Section 31301(6)(A) defines ‘‘preferred mortgage’’ to 

mean a mortgage that meets the requirements of sec-

tion 31322. This clause makes no substantive change to 

law. 
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Section 31301(6)(B) defines ‘‘preferred mortgage’’ to 

also mean a mortgage on a documented foreign vessel 

that is preferred under sections 31325 and 31326 for pur-

poses of enforcement of the outstanding mortgage in-

debtedness. Preference is only granted if the mortgage 

is executed under the laws of a foreign country, reg-

istered under those laws in a public register at the port 

of registry or at a central office. The use of the word 

‘‘established’’ in place of ‘‘created’’ in the current law 

or ‘‘effective’’ as used in the treaties is not intended to 

make any substantive change to law. The only sub-

stantive changes to law made by this clause are the 

elimination of the exemption of foreign vessels of less 

than 200 gross tons, and clarification of the rule of in-

terpretation that if a vessel is registered in one coun-

try, but is permitted to fly temporarily the flag of an-

other country (such as through a demise charter), it is 

the law of the country in which the ownership of the 

vessel is documented that is used to determine when a 

mortgage attains preferred status. 

EFFECTIVE DATE 

Chapter effective Jan. 1, 1989, with certain exceptions 

and qualifications, and not to affect any civil action 

filed before that date, see section 107 of Pub. L. 100–710, 

set out as a note under section 30101 of this title. 

SECTION REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This section is referred to in section 1271 of Appendix 

to this title. 

§ 31302. Availability of instruments, copies, and 
information 

The Secretary of Transportation shall— 
(1) make any instrument filed or recorded 

with the Secretary under this chapter avail-
able for public inspection; 

(2) on request, provide a copy, including a 
certified copy, of any instrument made avail-
able for public inspection under this chapter; 
and 

(3) on request, provide a certificate contain-
ing information included in an instrument 
filed or recorded under this chapter. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4740.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31302(1) ........................................ 46:927 (1st sentence) 
31302(2) ........................................ 46:927 (2d sentence) 
31302(3) ........................................ New 

Section 31302(1) makes all instruments filed for re-

cording or recorded with the Secretary of Transpor-

tation available for public inspection. The only sub-

stantive change to law made by this subsection is the 

inclusion of instruments filed for recording, which is in 

keeping with the new requirements on filing of instru-

ments made in section 31321. 

Section 31302(2) requires the Secretary to provide the 

public with a certified copy of the material made avail-

able to the public under subsection (a). This subsection 

makes no substantive change to law. 

Section 31302(3) requires the Secretary, on request, to 

issue a certificate containing the information included 

in instruments on file, such as certificates of owner-

ship. 

§ 31303. Certain civil actions not authorized 

If a mortgage covers a vessel and additional 
property that is not a vessel, this chapter does 
not authorize a civil action in rem to enforce 
the rights of the mortgagee under the mortgage 
against the additional property. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4740.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31303 ............................................ 46:954(b) 

Section 31303 makes it clear that, if a mortgage cov-

ers a vessel and additional property that is not a vessel, 

this chapter does not authorize a civil action in rem in 

admiralty to enforce rights against the additional prop-

erty. This section makes no substantive change to law. 

§ 31304. Liability for noncompliance 

(a) If a person makes a contract secured by, or 
on the credit of, a vessel covered by a mortgage 
filed or recorded under this chapter and sustains 
a monetary loss because the mortgagor or the 
master or other individual in charge of the ves-
sel does not comply with a requirement imposed 
on the mortgagor, master, or individual under 
this chapter, the mortgagor is liable for the loss. 

(b) A civil action may be brought to recover 
for losses referred to in subsection (a) of this 
section. The district courts have original juris-
diction of the action, regardless of the amount 
in controversy or the citizenship of the parties. 
If the plaintiff prevails, the court shall award 
costs and attorney fees to the plaintiff. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4740.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31304 ............................................ 46:941(c) 

Section 31304 imposes liability on the mortgagor if 

the mortgagor, master, or other individual in charge of 

the vessel does not comply with the statutory require-

ments. A civil action may be brought in a district court 

of the United States for losses incurred. If the plaintiff 

prevails, the court shall award costs and attorneys fees 

to the plaintiff. This section makes two substantive 

changes to law. First, is the broadening of its coverage 

from documented vessels covered by a preferred mort-

gage to any vessel covered by a mortgage that is filed 

or recorded under the chapter. The second substantive 

change repeals the liability on the United States Gov-

ernment for losses caused because the Secretary did 

not comply with statutory requirements. This is cov-

ered by the Federal Tort Claims Act due to the non-

discretionary responsibility of the Secretary. 

§ 31305. Waiver of lien rights 

This chapter does not prevent a mortgagee or 
other lien holder from waiving or subordinating 
at any time by agreement or otherwise the lien 
holder’s right to a lien, the priority or, if a pre-
ferred mortgage lien, the preferred status of the 
lien. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4741.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31305 ............................................ 46:974 

Section 31305 provides for the waiver of lien rights by 

the mortgagee or a person performing or supplying nec-

essaries. This section makes no substantive change to 

law and is included only because of a like provision in 
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current law. Without this provision the Committee be-

lieves these waivers would be permissible as a matter 

of law as they do not violate any public policy and on 

their face reflect an arms length transaction between 

the parties. The inclusion of this provision should not 

raise the implication that a similar provision is re-

quired for other matters that may be waivable as a 

matter of law. 

HOUSE FLOOR STATEMENT 

Section 31305 has been changed to clarify that the 

chapter does not prevent a mortgagee or other lien 

holder from waiving by contract the right to a lien, or 

the priority of that lien. 

§ 31306. Declaration of citizenship 

(a) Except as provided by the Secretary of 
Transportation, when an instrument transfer-
ring an interest in a vessel is presented to the 
Secretary for filing or recording, the transferee 
shall file with the instrument a declaration, in 
the form the Secretary may prescribe by regula-
tion, stating information about citizenship and 
other information the Secretary may require to 
show the transaction involved does not violate 
section 9 or 37 of the Shipping Act, 1916 (46 App. 
U.S.C. 808, 835). 

(b) A declaration under this section filed by a 
corporation must be signed by its president, sec-
retary, treasurer, or other official authorized by 
the corporation to execute the declaration. 

(c) Except as provided by the Secretary, an in-
strument transferring an interest in a vessel is 
not valid against any person until the declara-
tion required by this section has been filed. 

(d) A person knowingly making a false state-
ment of a material fact in a declaration filed 
under this section shall be fined under title 18, 
imprisoned for not more than 5 years, or both. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4741; Pub. L. 101–225, title III, § 303(1), Dec. 
12, 1989, 103 Stat. 1923.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31306 ............................................ 46:838 

Section 31306(a) requires that a person submitting an 

instrument transferring interest in a vessel to the Sec-

retary for recording is also to file a declaration stating 

information about citizenship and other information to 

show that the transfer is not in violation of section 9 

of the Shipping Act, or section 37 of that Act in a na-

tional emergency. This section makes no substantive 

change to law. 

Section 31306(b) requires that a declaration filed by a 

corporation must be signed by the president, secretary, 

treasurer, or other official authorized by the corpora-

tion to execute the declaration. This section makes no 

substantive change to law. 

Section 31306(c) invalidates any instrument transfer-

ring an interest until the declaration is filed. This sec-

tion makes no substantive change to law. 

Section 31306(d) provides for a criminal penalty for a 

violation of this section. The amount of the fine is pre-

scribed under title 18, United States Code, and may in-

clude imprisonment for not more than 5 years, or both. 

This section makes no substantive change to law. 

AMENDMENTS 

1989—Subsec. (a). Pub. L. 101–225, § 303(1)(A), sub-

stituted ‘‘Except as provided by the Secretary of Trans-

portation, when’’ for ‘‘When’’ and ‘‘Secretary for fil-

ing’’ for ‘‘Secretary of Transportation for filing’’. 

Subsec. (c). Pub. L. 101–225, § 303(1)(B), substituted 

‘‘Except as provided by the Secretary, an’’ for ‘‘An’’. 

§ 31307. State statutes superseded 

This chapter supersedes any State statute con-
ferring a lien on a vessel to the extent the stat-
ute establishes a claim to be enforced by a civil 
action in rem against the vessel for necessaries. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4741.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31307 ............................................ 46:975 

Section 31307 provides for preemption of State laws to 

the extent a claim for necessaries is enforced by a civil 

action in rem in admiralty against the vessel. 

§ 31308. Secretary of Commerce or Transpor-
tation as mortgagee 

When the Secretary of Commerce or Transpor-
tation is a mortgagee under this chapter, the 
Secretary may foreclose on a lien arising from a 
right established under a mortgage under title 
XI of the Merchant Marine Act, 1936 (46 App. 
U.S.C. 1271 et seq.), subject to section 362(b) of 
title 11. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4741; Pub. L. 101–595, title VI, § 603(13), Nov. 
16, 1990, 104 Stat. 2993.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31308 ............................................ 46:952 (last sentence) 

Section 31308 allows the Secretary of Commerce or 

Transportation to foreclose on a lien arising from a 

right established under a mortgage under title XI of 

the Merchant Marine Act, 1936. This section makes no 

substantive change to law. 

REFERENCES IN TEXT 

The Merchant Marine Act, 1936, referred to in text, is 

act June 29, 1936, ch. 858, 49 Stat. 1985, as amended. 

Title XI of the Act is classified generally to subchapter 

XI (§ 1271 et seq.) of chapter 27 of the Appendix to this 

title. For complete classification of this Act to the 

Code, see section 1245 of the Appendix to this title and 

Tables. 

AMENDMENTS 

1990—Pub. L. 101–595 substituted ‘‘(46 App. U.S.C. 1271 

et seq.)’’ for ‘‘(46 App. U.S.C. 1241 et seq.)’’. 

§ 31309. General civil penalty 

Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, a 
person violating this chapter or a regulation 
prescribed under this chapter is liable to the 
United States Government for a civil penalty of 
not more than $10,000. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4741.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31309 ............................................ New 

Section 31309 provides for a civil penalty of not more 

than $10,000 for a violation of this chapter or a regula-

tion prescribed under this chapter. 
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SUBCHAPTER II—COMMERCIAL 
INSTRUMENTS 

§ 31321. Filing, recording, and discharge 

(a)(1) A bill of sale, conveyance, mortgage, as-
signment, or related instrument, whenever 
made, that includes any part of a documented 
vessel or a vessel for which an application for 
documentation is filed, must be filed with the 
Secretary of Transportation to be valid, to the 
extent the vessel is involved, against any person 
except— 

(A) the grantor, mortgagor, or assignor; 
(B) the heir or devisee of the grantor, mort-

gagor, or assignor; and 
(C) a person having actual notice of the sale, 

conveyance, mortgage, assignment, or related 
instrument. 

(2) Each bill of sale, conveyance, mortgage, as-
signment, or related instrument that is filed in 
substantial compliance with this section is valid 
against any person from the time it is filed with 
the Secretary. 

(3) The parties to an instrument or an applica-
tion for documentation shall use diligence to en-
sure that the parts of the instrument or applica-
tion for which they are responsible are in sub-
stantial compliance with the filing and docu-
mentation requirements. 

(b) To be filed, a bill of sale, conveyance, 
mortgage, assignment, or related instrument 
must— 

(1) identify the vessel; 
(2) state the name and address of each party 

to the instrument; 
(3) state, if a mortgage, the amount of the 

direct or contingent obligations (in one or 
more units of account as agreed to by the par-
ties) that is or may become secured by the 
mortgage, excluding interest, expenses, and 
fees; 

(4) state the interest of the grantor, mortga-
gor, or assignor in the vessel; 

(5) state the interest sold, conveyed, mort-
gaged, or assigned; and 

(6) be signed and acknowledged. 

(c) If a bill of sale, conveyance, mortgage, as-
signment, or related document is filed that in-
volves a vessel for which an application for doc-
umentation is filed, and the Secretary decides 
that the vessel cannot be documented by an ap-
plicant— 

(1) the Secretary shall send notice of the 
Secretary’s decision, including reasons for the 
decision, to each interested party to the in-
strument filed for recording; and 

(2) 90 days after sending the notice as pro-
vided under clause (1) of this subsection, the 
Secretary— 

(A) may terminate the filing; and 
(B) may return the instrument filed with-

out recording it under subsection (e) of this 
section. 

(d) A person may withdraw an application for 
documentation of a vessel for which a mortgage 
has been filed under this section only if the 
mortgagee consents. 

(e) The Secretary shall— 
(1) record the bills of sale, conveyances, 

mortgages, assignments, and related instru-

ments of a documented vessel complying with 
subsection (b) of this section in the order they 
are filed; and 

(2) maintain appropriate indexes, for use by 
the public, of instruments filed or recorded, or 
both. 

(f) On full and final discharge of the indebted-
ness under a mortgage recorded under sub-
section (e)(1) of this section, a mortgagee, on re-
quest of the Secretary or mortgagor, shall pro-
vide the Secretary with an acknowledged certifi-
cate of discharge of the indebtedness in a form 
prescribed by the Secretary. The Secretary shall 
record the certificate. 

(g) The mortgage or related instrument of a 
vessel covered by a preferred mortgage under 
section 31322(d) of this title, that is later filed 
under this section at the time an application for 
documentation is filed, is valid under this sec-
tion from the time the mortgage or instrument 
representing financing became a preferred mort-
gage under section 31322(d). 

(h) On full and final discharge of the indebted-
ness under a mortgage deemed to be a preferred 
mortgage under section 31322(d) of this title, a 
mortgagee, on request of the Secretary, a State, 
or mortgagor, shall provide the Secretary or the 
State, as appropriate, with an acknowledged 
certificate of discharge of the indebtedness in a 
form prescribed by the Secretary or the State, 
as applicable. If filed with the Secretary, the 
Secretary shall enter that information in the 
vessel identification system under chapter 125 of 
this title. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4741; Pub. L. 101–225, title III, § 303(2), Dec. 
12, 1989, 103 Stat. 1923.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31321(a)(1) .................................... 46:921(a) 
31321(a)(2) .................................... 46:1012 
31321(a)(3) .................................... New 
31321(b) ........................................ 46:926(a), (b) 
31321(c), (d) .................................. New 
31321(e) ........................................ 46:921(b) 
31321(f) ........................................ 46:925(b) 
31321(g) ........................................ New 
31321(h) ........................................ 46:925(b) 

Section 31321(a)(1) provides for the filing of a bill of 

sale, conveyance, mortgage, assignment, or related in-

strument of a vessel. This subsection makes sub-

stantive changes to law. The bill would allow a bill of 

sale, conveyance, mortgage, assignment, or related in-

strument to be filed at the same time an application 

for documentation under chapter 121 is filed. The Com-

mittee intends that the types of related instruments 

required to be filed be defined by regulations prescribed 

by the Secretary of Transportation. A major change 

the bill makes is that the instrument needs only be 

filed with the Secretary of Transportation to be valid. 

It is not necessary that it be recorded. This change is 

being made to eliminate a problem under existing law 

that prevents a person from recording an instrument 

when the vessel has not been yet documented. When 

filed with the Secretary, it is valid (to the extent the 

vessel is involved) against any person except the grant-

or, mortgagor, or assignor, their heirs or devisees, and 

a person having actual notice of that instrument. 

Clauses (A)–(C) make no substantive change to law. 
Paragraph (2) provides that each bill of sale, convey-

ance, mortgage, assignment, or related instrument that 

is filed in substantial compliance with the require-

ments of this section is valid against any person from 

the time it is filed with the Secretary. 
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Paragraph (3) provides that it is the responsibility of 

the parties to an instrument to use diligence to ensure 

that the particulars of a filed instrument for which 

they are responsible are in substantial compliance. It is 

not the responsibility of the Secretary to validate the 

information in the instrument. If an instrument is 

later found to be invalid because it is not in substantial 

compliance, and the parties lose the benefits of a pre-

ferred mortgage, it is their fault, not the Secretary’s. 
Section 31321(b) sets out the requirements that an in-

strument must meet to be properly filed. To be filed 

the instruments must: (1) identify the vessel; (2) state 

the name and address of each party to the instrument; 

(3) state, if a mortgage, the amount of the direct or 

contingent obligations (in one or more units of account 

as agreed to by the parties) that is or may become se-

cured by the mortgage, excluding interest, expenses, 

and fees; (4) state the interest of the grantor, mortga-

gor, or assignor; (5) state the interest sold, conveyed, 

mortgaged, or assigned; and (6) be signed and acknowl-

edged. While most of these items are required under 

current law to be included in the index, and therefore 

required to be submitted to the Secretary to be re-

corded, this subsection makes a number of substantive 

changes to law. First, while vessel names are currently 

required to be submitted, this requirement has been 

broadened so that hull identification numbers and offi-

cial numbers can be used to more specifically identify 

a vessel (since many vessels have the same name). Sec-

ond, it requires the mortgage to state the maximum 

amount of the obligation, including principal, interest, 

fees, etc., that are secured by the mortgage. It also 

clarifies that the mortgage obligation may be payable 

in more than one unit of account, such as yen, franc, or 

special drawing right. Third, it recognizes that under 

some modern financing practices an instrument may 

not have a date of maturity. The requirement for sup-

plying the date of maturity has been eliminated. 
Section 31321(c) provides that if an instrument filed 

involves a vessel that has not yet been documented, 

and the Secretary decides that the vessel cannot be 

documented by the applicant, then the Secretary shall 

send notice of that denial to the parties, including the 

reasons for the Secretary’s decision. If the parties have 

not corrected the deficiencies within 90 days, the Sec-

retary may terminate the filing and return the instru-

ments. This invalidates the instruments. 
Section 31321(d) prohibits a person from withdrawing 

an application for documentation of a vessel for which 

a mortgage has been filed unless the mortgagee con-

sents. Since the withdrawal will invalidate the mort-

gage, the mortgagee should be allowed to prohibit the 

withdrawal. 
Section 31321(e) makes a substantive change to law. 

It requires the Secretary to record instruments in the 

order they are received for filing, not in the order in 

which they were received for recording. It also makes 

a substantive change by eliminating the specific in-

dexes required under the law and substituting a general 

requirement for the Secretary to maintain indexes of 

instruments filed or recorded, or both, for use by the 

public. These indexes, prescribed by regulations, must 

be in keeping with U.S. obligations under treaties to 

which the United States is a party. Since section 104 

[105] of this Act makes the existing rules and regula-

tions applicable under this subsection, the current in-

dexing system will be maintained that includes the 

names of the vessels; names of the parties to the in-

struments; time and date each instrument was re-

ceived; the interest in the vessel that was sold, con-

veyed, mortgaged, or assigned; and the date of the ma-

turity of the mortgage, if any. However, it allows the 

Secretary by regulation to automate the system with 

computers, as long as the new system provides the pub-

lic with an adequate method of finding and examining 

these public records. 
Section 31321(f) makes a substantive change to law by 

eliminating the requirement that a partial discharge of 

indebtedness be filed with the Secretary. The bill re-

quires that on the full and final discharge of indebted-

ness the mortgagee, on request of the Secretary or 

mortgagor, shall provide the Secretary with a written, 

acknowledged certificate of discharge of the indebted-

ness. This subsection also makes a substantive change 

by requiring that the mortgagee, not the mortgagor, 

provide the certificate of discharge. The Secretary 

shall then record the certificate. However, this does not 

prohibit a person from submitting a certificate of dis-

charge under subsection (a) since it is a related instru-

ment. This subsection also makes a substantive change 

to law by eliminating the requirement that the dis-

charge be endorsed on the vessel’s certificate of docu-

mentation, and that the Customs Service only may 

clear a vessel after an endorsement has been made. 

This change is made because of the elimination of en-

dorsements under section 31322. 

HOUSE FLOOR STATEMENT 

Section 31321 has been changed to clarify that a mort-

gage, whenever made, must be filed to be valid against 

third parties. This clarification allows mortgage clos-

ings to occur previous to filing of an instrument, and 

to eliminate the need for a fictional simultaneous clos-

ing and filing. 
Subsection (g) clarifies that if an application for doc-

umentation is filed for a vessel covered by a preferred 

mortgage under section 31322(d) (as enacted by this 

Act), the preferred mortgage must be filed with the 

Secretary at the same time the application for docu-

mentation is filed to be valid against third parties. If 

the preferred mortgage is filed with the Secretary at 

the time the documentation application is filed, it is 

valid from the time it became a preferred mortgage 

under section 31322(d). 
When a State preferred mortgage under section 

31322(d) is finally discharged, subsection (h) of this sec-

tion requires the mortgagee to provide upon request to 

the Secretary or a State, whichever is more appro-

priate, an acknowledged certificate of discharge of in-

debtedness. This is necessary when a vessel in the sys-

tem moves from a participating titling State and is not 

retitled in another participating State. In this case, 

there is no way to update the status of the indebtedness 

through the original titling State. The Secretary is re-

quired to accept this information to be maintained in 

the vessel identification system under section 12503(c) 

of title 46 (as enacted by this Act). 

AMENDMENTS 

1989—Subsec. (c). Pub. L. 101–225 substituted ‘‘for 

which an application for documentation is filed’’ for 

‘‘that has not yet been documented’’ in introductory 

provisions and ‘‘interested party to’’ for ‘‘party whose 

name and address is stated on’’ in par. (1). 

EFFECTIVE DATE 

Section effective Jan. 1, 1989, not to affect any civil 

action filed before that date, and, insofar as applicable 

to vessels for which an application for documentation 

has been filed, effective Jan. 1, 1990, with further provi-

sion for an instrument filed before Jan. 1, 1989, but not 

recorded before that date, and with other qualifica-

tions, see section 107 of Pub. L. 100–710, set out as a 

note under section 30101 of this title. 

SECTION REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This section is referred to in sections 12111, 12503, 

31301, 31322, 31325, 31330 of this title. 

§ 31322. Preferred mortgages 

(a)(1) A preferred mortgage is a mortgage, 
whenever made, that— 

(A) includes the whole of a vessel; 
(B) is filed in substantial compliance with 

section 31321 of this title; 
(C)(i) covers a documented vessel; or 
(ii) covers a vessel for which an application 

for documentation is filed that is in substan-
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tial compliance with the requirements of 
chapter 121 of this title and the regulations 
prescribed under that chapter; and 

(D) has as the mortgagee— 
(i) a State; 
(ii) the United States Government; 
(iii) a federally insured depository institu-

tion, unless disapproved by the Secretary; 
(iv) an individual who is a citizen of the 

United States; 
(v) a person qualifying as a citizen of the 

United States under section 2 of the Ship-
ping Act, 1916 (46 App. U.S.C. 802); or 

(vi) a person approved by the Secretary of 
Transportation. 

(2) Paragraph (1)(D) of this subsection does not 
apply to— 

(A) a documented vessel that has a fisheries 
endorsement or a recreational endorsement, or 
both endorsements; or 

(B) a vessel for which an application for doc-
umentation with a fisheries endorsement or a 
recreational endorsement, or both endorse-
ments, has been filed. 

(b) A preferred mortgage filed or recorded 
under this chapter may have any rate of interest 
that the parties to the mortgage agree to. 

(c)(1) If a preferred mortgage includes more 
than one vessel or property that is not a vessel, 
the mortgage may provide for the separate dis-
charge of each vessel and all property not a ves-
sel by the payment of a part of the mortgage in-
debtedness. 

(2) If a vessel covered by a preferred mortgage 
that includes more than one vessel or property 
that is not a vessel is to be sold on the order of 
a district court in a civil action in rem, and the 
mortgage does not provide for separate dis-
charge as provided under paragraph (1) of this 
subsection— 

(A) the mortgage constitutes a lien on that 
vessel in the full amount of the outstanding 
mortgage indebtedness; and 

(B) an allocation of mortgage indebtedness 
for purposes of separate discharge may not be 
made among the vessel and other property 
covered by the mortgage. 

(d)(1) A mortgage or instrument granting a se-
curity interest perfected under State law cover-
ing the whole of a vessel titled in a State is 
deemed to be a preferred mortgage if— 

(A) the Secretary certifies that the State ti-
tling system complies with the Secretary’s 
guidelines for a titling system under section 
13106(b)(8) of this title; and 

(B) information on the vessel covered by the 
mortgage or instrument is made available to 
the Secretary under chapter 125 of this title. 

(2) This subsection applies to mortgages or in-
struments covering vessels titled in a State 
after— 

(A) the Secretary’s certification under para-
graph (1)(A) of this subsection; and 

(B) the State begins making information 
available to the Secretary under chapter 125 of 
this title. 

(3) A preferred mortgage under this subsection 
continues to be a preferred mortgage if the ves-
sel is no longer titled in the State where the 
mortgage was made. 

(e) If a vessel is already covered by a preferred 
mortgage when an application for titling or doc-
umentation is filed— 

(1) the status of the preferred mortgage cov-
ering the vessel to be titled in the State is de-
termined by the law of the jurisdiction where 
the vessel is currently titled or documented; 
and 

(2) the status of the preferred mortgage cov-
ering the vessel to be documented under chap-
ter 121 is determined by subsection (a) of this 
section. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4743; Pub. L. 101–225, title III, § 303(3), Dec. 
12, 1989, 103 Stat. 1923.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31322(a)(1) .................................... 46:922(a), (b) 
31322(a)(2) .................................... New 
31322(b) ........................................ 46:926(d) 
31322(c)(1) .................................... 46:922(e) 
31322(c)(2) .................................... 46:922(f) 
31322(d), (e) .................................. New 

Section 31322 sets out the conditions that must be 

met for a mortgage to be considered a preferred mort-

gage, and the types of endorsements that the Secretary 

must make on any certificate of documentation of a 

vessel that is to be covered by a preferred mortgage. 
Subsection (a)(1) makes many substantive changes to 

law. While a preferred mortgage must still include the 

whole of a vessel, this subsection eliminates the excep-

tion of certain vessels under 25 gross tons. It allows a 

vessel for which an application for documentation has 

been filed to have a preferred mortgage. It allows a 

mortgage to be a preferred mortgage from the time all 

four conditions are met, rather than from when the 

vessel is finally documented. Therefore, a mortgage 

will usually attain its preferred status when the appli-

cation for documentation and the instrument have 

been filed. This subsection changes the requirement 

that all documented vessels have as a mortgagee a per-

son that is a citizen of the United States, as defined in 

section 2 of the Shipping Act, 1916, and allows a State, 

the United States Government, a federally insured de-

pository institution, or any other person approved by 

the Secretary to be a mortgagee. 
Subsection (a)(2) makes a substantive change to law 

exempting fishing, fish processing, and fish tender ves-

sels, and vessels operated only for pleasure from the 

mortgagee restrictions, since these vessels do not have 

significant national defense use. 
Subsection (b) permits a preferred mortgage to have 

any rate of interest that is agreeable to the parties to 

the mortgage. This subsection makes no substantive 

change to law. 
Subsection (c)(1) applies to a mortgage that covers 

more than one vessel or additional property that is not 

a vessel. This subsection allows a preferred mortgage to 

include a separate discharge of the additional vessels 

and property. 
Subsection (c)(2) applies when a preferred mortgage 

covers more than one vessel, does not provide for the 

separate discharge of a vessel, and is to be sold by court 

order. The amount of the mortgage indebtedness attrib-

utable to a vessel is that part of the indebtedness, in-

creased by 20 percent, that the court determines ap-

proximates the value that the particular vessel bears to 

the value of all the vessels and property covered by the 

mortgage. In other words, the amount to be set by the 

court is the estimated value of the one vessel plus 20 

percent of that value to assure sufficiency of collateral. 
This section also makes a substantive change by 

eliminating the requirement that a vessel’s certificate 

of documentation be endorsed with information from 

the mortgage. This change is made since most of the 

information is out of date when examined, and since a 
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mortgage must be carried on self-propelled vessels 

under section 31324(b). This section also eliminates the 

requirement for the inclusion of an affidavit of good 

faith. However, both criminal and civil penalties have 

been added [in section 31330] to help ensure that there 

is not fraud. This section also eliminates the require-

ment that a preferred mortgage include a separate dis-

charge for additional property that is not a vessel, the 

requirement that the mortgage does not stipulate that 

the mortgagee waives the mortgage’s preferred status; 

and the requirement for clearing vessels with endorsed 

documents through Customs. 

HOUSE FLOOR STATEMENT 

Under section 31322(a)(2) a ‘‘vessel operated only for 

pleasure’’ is exempt from any restrictions on who can 

be a mortgagee. This standard is the same as used for 

the documentation of a recreational vessel under sec-

tion 12109 of title 46. The Committee intends that ves-

sels that have a recreational vessel license, or com-

bined fisheries and recreational license, fall under this 

exemption. However, if the vessel has a Coastwise Li-

cense, Great Lakes License, or Registry combined with 

a Recreational License, the vessel would not fall under 

this exemption. 
Under subsection (c)(2), if a vessel covered by a pre-

ferred mortgage that includes more than one vessel or 

property that is not a vessel is to be sold on the order 

of a district court in rem, and there is not a separate 

discharge, then the mortgage constitutes a lien on that 

vessel in the full amount of the outstanding mortgage 

indebtedness, and an allocation of mortgage indebted-

ness for purposes of a separate discharge may not be 

made. This change is made to eliminate the formula 

that did not work and to allow the vessel to be sold free 

and clear, regardless of the amount of the sale. 
Under subsection (d) of section 31322, a mortgage or 

other instrument representing financing of a vessel 

under State law that is made under applicable State 

law and covers the whole of a vessel titled in a State 

is deemed to be a preferred mortgage if two conditions 

are fulfilled. The first condition is that the Secretary 

must certify that the State in which the vessel is titled 

has a titling system that complies with the Secretary’s 

vessel titling guidelines established under section 

13106(b)(8) of title 46. Congress mandated the promulga-

tion of these guidelines in the Recreational Boating 

Safety Act of 1986, Public Law 99–626. The second condi-

tion is that the State in which the vessel is titled must 

make information available to the Secretary for the 

vessel identification system established under chapter 

125 of title 46 (as enacted by this Act) on the vessel cov-

ered by the mortgage or other instrument. This status 

only applies to vessels titled in the State after those 

two conditions are met. The phrase ‘‘instrument rep-

resenting financing of a vessel under State law’’ is used 

in addition to ‘‘mortgage’’ because State laws do not 

always use the term mortgage when referring to financ-

ing. It is intended, however, that the financing covered 

by this phrase would be the same as that covered by the 

concept of a mortgage under other Federal law. 
Paragraph (2) of subsection (d) clarifies that mort-

gages or other financing instruments may obtain pre-

ferred status under subsection (d) if they cover vessels 

titled in a State after the Secretary certifies the com-

pliance of the State’s titling system, and the State be-

gins making vessel identification information available 

to the Secretary. Preferred mortgage status can only 

be attained when these two conditions are in effect. 

Mortgages or financing instruments made prior to that 

are not preferred and, if these two conditions cease to 

exist, new mortgages or forecasting instruments made 

after that time cannot attain preferred status. 
The law of the titling State controls the making of 

the preferred mortgage or financing instrument under 

this subsection. No additional Federal recording re-

quirements may be imposed for the mortgage or instru-

ment to obtain preferred status under this subsection. 
Paragraph (3) of this subsection ensures that a pre-

ferred mortgage under this subsection retains that 

status if the vessel covered by the mortgage later relin-

quishes its title. If the vessel is subsequently docu-

mented, the continuing validity of the mortgage is de-

termined by section 31321(g) (as enacted by this Act). 
Subsection (e) of section 31322 clarifies the validity of 

preferred mortgages made under subsection (d). In the 

case of a State titled vessel covered by a preferred 

mortgage for which a new titling application is filed, 

the validity of the mortgage is governed by the law of 

the titling State in which the mortgage became pre-

ferred. In the case of a documented vessel covered by a 

preferred mortgage for which an application for a State 

title is filed, or a State titled vessel covered by a pre-

ferred mortgage for which an application for docu-

mentation is filed, the validity of the preferred mort-

gage is governed by section 31322(a) of title 46 (as en-

acted by this Act). 
Information on vessels with preferred mortgages 

made under State law will be available to creditors 

from the vessel identification system under chapter 125 

of title 46 (as enacted by this Act). 

AMENDMENTS 

1989—Subsec. (a)(2). Pub. L. 101–225, § 303(3)(A), amend-

ed par. (2) generally. Prior to amendment, par. (2) read 

as follows: ‘‘Paragraph (1)(D) of this subsection does 

not apply to a vessel operated only as a fishing vessel, 

fish processing vessel, or a fish tender vessel (as defined 

in section 2101 of this title) or to a vessel operated only 

for pleasure.’’ 
Subsec. (d)(1). Pub. L. 101–225, § 303(3)(B), substituted 

‘‘granting a security interest perfected under State 

law’’ for ‘‘representing financing of a vessel under 

State law that is made under applicable State law’’. 
Subsec. (e). Pub. L. 101–225, § 303(3)(C), substituted 

‘‘the status of the preferred mortgage’’ for ‘‘the valid-

ity of the preferred mortgage’’ in pars. (1) and (2). 

EFFECTIVE DATE 

Section effective Jan. 1, 1989, not to affect any civil 

action filed before that date, and, insofar as applicable 

to vessels for which an application for documentation 

has been filed, effective Jan. 1, 1990, with other excep-

tions and qualifications, see section 107 of Pub. L. 

100–710, set out as a note under section 30101 of this 

title. 

SECTION REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This section is referred to in sections 12503, 31301, 

31321, 31327, 31328, 31343 of this title; section 808 of Ap-

pendix to this title. 

§ 31323. Disclosing and incurring obligations be-
fore executing preferred mortgages 

(a) On request of the mortgagee and before 
executing a preferred mortgage, the mortgagor 
shall disclose in writing to the mortgagee the 
existence of any obligation known to the mort-
gagor on the vessel to be mortgaged. 

(b) After executing a preferred mortgage and 
before the mortgagee has had a reasonable time 
to file the mortgage, the mortgagor may not 
incur, without the consent of the mortgagee, 
any contractual obligation establishing a lien 
on the vessel except a lien for— 

(1) wages of a stevedore when employed di-
rectly by a person listed in section 31341 of 
this title; 

(2) wages for the crew of the vessel; 
(3) general average; or 
(4) salvage, including contract salvage. 

(c) On conviction of a mortgagor under section 
31330(a)(1)(A) or (B) of this title for violating 
this section, the mortgage indebtedness, at the 
option of the mortgagee, is payable imme-
diately. 
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1 So in original. Probably should be ‘‘preferred’’. 

2 So in original. Probably should end with a period instead of 

‘‘; and’’. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4744.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31323(a) ........................................ 46:924(1) 
31323(b) ........................................ 46:924(2) 
31323(c) ........................................ 46:941(b) (last sentence) 

Section 31323(a) requires the mortgagor to disclose 
any obligations on the vessel before executing a pre-
ferred mortgage. This subsection makes no substantive 
change to law. 

Section 31323(b) provides that, after executing a pre-
ferred mortgage, the mortgagor may not incur, without 
consent of the mortgagee, any contractual obligations 
establishing a lien on the vessel—except a lien for ste-
vedore wages, crew wages, general average, and sal-
vage. The only substantive change to law made by this 
subsection is that the reasonable time to record a 
mortgage is changed to a reasonable time to file the 
mortgage, and the elimination of the reference to en-
dorsements. These changes are in keeping with the 
changes made in section 31322. 

Section 31323(c) provides that if a mortgagor is con-
victed of a violation of this section, then the mortgage 
indebtedness, at the option of the mortgagee, is pay-
able immediately. This subsection makes no sub-
stantive change to law. 

SECTION REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This section is referred to in section 31330 of this 
title. 

§ 31324. Retention and examination of mortgages 
of vessels covered by preferred mortgages 

(a) On request, the owner, master, or individ-
ual in charge of a vessel covered by a preferred 
mortgage shall permit a person to examine the 
mortgage if the person has business with the 
vessel that may give rise to a maritime lien or 
the sale, conveyance, mortgage, or assignment 
of a mortgage of the vessel. 

(b) A mortgagor of a preferred mortgage cover-
ing a self-propelled vessel shall use diligence in 
keeping a certified copy of the mortgage on the 
vessel. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4744.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31324 ............................................ 46:923 

Section 31324(a) provides for examination of mort-

gages of a vessel that is covered by a preferred mort-

gage by persons that have business with the vessel that 

may give rise to a maritime lien or the sale, convey-

ance, mortgage, or assignment of the mortgage. This 

subsection makes no substantive change to law. 
Section 31324(b) requires that a certified copy of the 

mortgage must be on board a self-propelled vessel. This 

subsection makes no substantive change to law. 

§ 31325. Preferred mortgage liens and enforce-
ment 

(a) A preferred mortgage is a lien on the mort-
gaged vessel in the amount of the outstanding 
mortgage indebtedness secured by the vessel. 

(b) On default of any term of the preferred 
mortgage, the mortgage may— 

(1) enforce the perferred 1 mortgage lien in a 
civil action in rem for a documented vessel, a 

vessel to be documented under chapter 121 of 
this title, or a foreign vessel; and 

(2) enforce a claim for the outstanding in-
debtedness secured by the mortgaged vessel 
in— 

(A) a civil action in personam in admiralty 
against the mortgagor, maker, comaker, or 
guarantor for the amount of the outstanding 
indebtedness or any deficiency in full pay-
ment of that indebtedness; and 

(B) a civil action against the mortgagor, 
maker, comaker, or guarantor for the 
amount of the outstanding indebtedness or 
any deficiency in full payment of that in-
debtedness; and 2 

(c) The district courts have original jurisdic-
tion of a civil action brought under subsection 
(b)(1) or (2) of this section. However, for a docu-
mented vessel, a vessel to be documented under 
chapter 121 of this title, or a foreign vessel, this 
jurisdiction is exclusive of the courts of the 
States for a civil action brought under sub-
section (b)(1) of this section. 

(d)(1) Actual notice of a civil action brought 
under subsection (b)(1) of this section, or to en-
force a maritime lien, must be given in the man-
ner directed by the court to— 

(A) the master or individual in charge of the 
vessel; 

(B) any person that recorded under section 
31343(a) or (d) of this title a notice of a claim 
of an undischarged lien on the vessel; and 

(C) a mortgagee of a mortgage filed or re-
corded under section 31321 of this title that is 
an undischarged mortgage on the vessel. 

(2) Notice under paragraph (1) of this sub-
section is not required if, after search satisfac-
tory to the court, the person entitled to the no-
tice has not been found in the United States. 

(3) Failure to give notice required by this sub-
section does not affect the jurisdiction of the 
court in which the civil action is brought. How-
ever, unless notice is not required under para-
graph (2) of this subsection, the party required 
to give notice is liable to the person not notified 
for damages in the amount of that person’s in-
terest in the vessel terminated by the action 
brought under subsection (b)(1) of this section. A 
civil action may be brought to recover the 
amount of the terminated interest. The district 
courts have original jurisdiction of the action, 
regardless of the amount in controversy or the 
citizenship of the parties. If the plaintiff pre-
vails, the court may award costs and attorney 
fees to the plaintiff. 

(e) In a civil action brought under subsection 
(b)(1) of this section— 

(1) the court may appoint a receiver and au-
thorize the receiver to operate the mortgaged 
vessel and shall retain in rem jurisdiction over 
the vessel even if the receiver operates the 
vessel outside the district in which the court 
is located; and 

(2) when directed by the court, a United 
States marshal may take possession of a mort-
gaged vessel even if the vessel is in the posses-
sion or under the control of a person claiming 
a possessory common law lien. 
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1 So in original. Probably should be followed by a comma. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4745; Pub. L. 101–225, title III, § 303(4), Dec. 
12, 1989, 103 Stat. 1923.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31325(a) ........................................ 46:951 (1st sentence) 
31325(b)(1) .................................... 46:951 (2d sentence) 
31325(b)(2) .................................... 46:954(a) 
31325(b)(3) .................................... New 
31325(c) ........................................ 46:951 (3d sentence) 
31325(d) ........................................ 46:951 (4th to 6th sentences) 
31325(e) ........................................ 46:952 (1st, 2d sentences) 

Section 31325 provides for the enforcement of a pre-

ferred mortgage lien. 
Section 31325(a) makes a ‘‘preferred mortgage’’ a lien 

on the vessel in the amount of the mortgage indebted-

ness secured by the vessel outstanding at foreclosure. 

This subsection makes no substantive change to law. 
Section 31325(b) provides that, on default of any term, 

the mortgagee may enforce the preferred mortgage lien 

in a civil action in rem, or in personam in admiralty 

against the mortgagor, comaker, or guarantor for the 

amount of the outstanding indebtedness secured by the 

vessel or any deficiency in paying off that indebted-

ness. This subsection makes a substantive change to 

law by allowing a nonadmiralty civil action to be 

brought against the mortgagor, comaker, or guarantor 

for the amount of the outstanding indebtedness secured 

by the vessel or any deficiency in paying off that in-

debtedness. This change allows an action to be brought 

even when the vessel is outside U.S. jurisdiction. This 

section will also allow the action to be brought against 

the comaker or guarantor of the mortgage. 
Section 31325(c) provides for original and exclusive ju-

risdiction by a district court, to the exclusion of the 

courts of a State for civil actions brought in rem. It 

also provides for original jurisdiction for civil actions 

brought in personam in admiralty and civil actions 

brought under subsection (b)(3). This subsection makes 

a substantive change to law by broadening the jurisdic-

tion to courts in the territories, as defined in section 

31301, as well as giving original jurisdiction to the dis-

trict courts in nonadmiralty civil actions brought to 

enforce the preferred mortgage lien. 
Subsection (d) provides that actual notice of a civil 

action in rem to enforce a maritime lien must be given 

in a manner directed by the court to the master, indi-

vidual in charge of the vessel, to any person that re-

corded a notice of a claim of an undischarged lien, and, 

for the first time, to the mortgagee of a mortgage filed 

with the Secretary. This notice is not required if, after 

a search is made that is satisfactory to the court, the 

person entitled to notice is not found in the United 

States. Failure to give notice does not affect the 

court’s jurisdiction. However, the mortgagor is still lia-

ble to the person not notified for damages in the 

amount of that person’s interest in the vessel that was 

terminated by the civil action in rem, and a civil action 

may still be brought to recover the amount of the ter-

minated interest. The district courts have original ju-

risdiction of the action, regardless of the amount in 

controversy or the citizenship of the parties. If plaintiff 

prevails, the court shall award costs and attorneys fees 

to the plaintiff. 
Subsection (e) provides that, in a civil action in rem, 

the court may appoint a receiver and authorize oper-

ation of the vessel. When directed by the court, a 

United States marshal may take possession—even if 

the vessel is in the possession of or under the control 

of a person claiming a possessory common law lien. 

This subsection makes a substantive change to law by 

allowing the court to retain in rem jurisdiction over the 

vessel even if the receiver operates the vessel outside 

the district in which the court is located. 

HOUSE FLOOR STATEMENT 

Subsection (c) of this section clarifies that the dis-

trict courts have original jurisdiction for a civil action 

under subsection (b) of this section, and exclusive juris-

diction in the case of vessels documented or to be docu-

mented under chapter 121 of title 46. 

AMENDMENTS 

1989—Subsecs. (b), (c). Pub. L. 101–225 amended sub-

secs. (b) and (c) generally. Prior to amendment, sub-

secs. (b) and (c) read as follows: 

‘‘(b) On default of any term of the preferred mort-

gage, the mortgagee may enforce the preferred mort-

gage lien in— 

‘‘(1) a civil action in rem for a documented vessel or 

a vessel to be documented under chapter 121 of this 

title; 

‘‘(2) a civil action in personam in admiralty against 

the mortgagor, comaker, or guarantor for the 

amount of the outstanding indebtedness secured by 

the mortgaged vessel or any deficiency in full pay-

ment of that indebtedness; and 

‘‘(3) a civil action against the mortgagor, comaker, 

or guarantor for the amount of the outstanding in-

debtedness secured by the mortgaged vessel or any 

deficiency in full payment of that indebtedness. 

‘‘(c) The district courts have original jurisdiction of 

a civil action brought under subsection (b) of this sec-

tion. However, for documented vessels or vessels to be 

documented under chapter 121 of this title, this juris-

diction is exclusive of the courts of the States for a 

civil action under subsection (b)(1) of this section.’’ 

SECTION REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This section is referred to in sections 31301, 31326 of 

this title; title 11 section 362. 

§ 31326. Court sales to enforce preferred mort-
gage liens and maritime liens and priority of 
claims 

(a) When a vessel is sold by order of a district 
court in a civil action in rem brought to enforce 
a preferred mortgage lien or a maritime lien, 
any claim in the vessel existing on the date of 
sale is terminated, including a possessory com-
mon law lien of which a person is deprived under 
section 31325(e)(2) of this title, and the vessel is 
sold free of all those claims. 

(b) Each of the claims terminated under sub-
section (a) of this section attaches, in the same 
amount and in accordance with their priorities 
to the proceeds of the sale, except that— 

(1) the preferred mortgage lien, including a 
preferred mortgage lien on a foreign vessel 
whose mortgage has been guaranteed under 
title XI of the Merchant Marine Act, 1936 (46 
App. U.S.C. 1101 et seq.) 1 has priority over all 
claims against the vessel (except for expenses 
and fees allowed by the court, costs imposed 
by the court, and preferred maritime liens); 
and 

(2) for a foreign vessel whose mortgage has 
not been guaranteed under title XI of that 
Act, the preferred mortgage lien is subordi-
nate to a maritime lien for necessaries pro-
vided in the United States. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4746; Pub. L. 103–160, div. A, title XIII, 
§ 1360, Nov. 30, 1993, 107 Stat. 1816.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31326(a) ........................................ 46:953(b), 961(c) 
31326(b)(1) .................................... 46:953(b) 
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HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES—CONTINUED 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31326(b)(2) .................................... 46:951 (2d par. proviso) 

Section 31326(a) provides for a court-ordered sale to 

enforce a preferred mortgage lien or a maritime lien 

and the priority of claims. When a mortgaged vessel is 

sold by court order in a civil action in rem, any prior 

claim in the vessel is terminated—including any pos-

sessory common law lien. This subsection makes a sub-

stantive change to law by making the process the same 

for maritime liens as was provided for preferred mort-

gage liens. This eliminates the requirement for making 

a new mortgagee for a court sale to enforce a maritime 

lien. This section also broadens the jurisdiction to 

courts in the territories, as defined in section 31301. 

Section 31326(b)(1) provides that each of these termi-

nated claims attaches, in the same amount and prior-

ity, to the proceeds of sale—except that the preferred 

mortgage lien always has priority over these other 

claims. However, the preferred mortgage lien is still 

subordinated to expenses and fees allowed by the court, 

costs imposed by the court, and any preferred maritime 

liens. This may include statutory fees such as the fee 

of the United States Marshal under 28 U.S.C. 1921. Ex-

cept for broadening its coverage under subsection (a), 

this makes no substantive change to law. 

Section 31326(b)(2) provides in the case of a foreign 

vessel, the preferred mortgage lien is also subordinated 

to a maritime lien for necessaries performed or sup-

plied for the vessel in the United States. ‘‘Provided’’ 

has been substituted for ‘‘provided or supplied’’ for con-

sistency in usage. Except for broadening its coverage 

under subsection (a), this paragraph makes no sub-

stantive change to law. 

REFERENCES IN TEXT 

The Merchant Marine Act, 1936, referred to in subsec. 

(b), is act June 29, 1936, ch. 858, 49 Stat. 1985, as amend-

ed. Title XI of the Act is classified generally to sub-

chapter XI (§ 1271 et seq.) of chapter 27 of the Appendix 

to this title. For complete classification of this Act to 

the Code, see section 1245 of the Appendix to this title 

and Tables. 

AMENDMENTS 

1993—Subsec. (b)(1). Pub. L. 103–160, § 1260(1), inserted 

‘‘, including a preferred mortgage lien on a foreign ves-

sel whose mortgage has been guaranteed under title XI 

of the Merchant Marine Act, 1936 (46 App. U.S.C. 1101 et 

seq.)’’ after ‘‘preferred mortgage lien’’. 

Subsec. (b)(2). Pub. L. 103–160, § 1360(2), inserted 

‘‘whose mortgage has not been guaranteed under title 

XI of that Act’’ after ‘‘foreign vessel’’. 

SECTION REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This section is referred to in section 31301 of this 

title. 

§ 31327. Forfeiture of mortgagee interest 

The interest of a mortgagee in a documented 
vessel or a vessel covered by a preferred mort-
gage under section 31322(d) of this title may be 
terminated by a forfeiture of the vessel for a 
violation of a law of the United States only if 
the mortgagee authorized, consented, or con-
spired to do the act, failure, or omission that is 
the basis of the violation. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4746.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31327 ............................................ 46:961(b) 

Section 31327 provides for forfeiture of the mortga-

gee’s interest if the mortgagee authorized, consented, 

or conspired to do the act, failure, or omission that is 

the basis of the violation that caused forfeiture of the 

vessel. This section makes no substantive change to 

law. 

§ 31328. Limitations on parties serving as trust-
ees of mortgaged vessel interests 

(a) Without the approval of the Secretary of 
Transportation, an instrument or evidence of in-
debtedness secured by a mortgage of a docu-
mented vessel to a trustee may not be issued, as-
signed, or transferred to, or held in trust for, a 
person not qualifying as a citizen of the United 
States under section 2 of the Shipping Act, 1916 
(46 App. U.S.C. 802), unless the trustee— 

(1) is a State; 
(2) is the United States Government; 
(3) is a person approved by the Secretary and 

qualifying as a citizen of the United States 
under that section 2; or 

(4) has been approved by the Secretary. 

(b) The Secretary shall approve a trustee 
under subsection (a)(3) or (4) of this section if 
the trustee— 

(1) is organized as a corporation, and is doing 
business, under the laws of the United States 
or of a State; 

(2) is authorized under those laws to exercise 
corporate trust powers; 

(3) is subject to supervision or examination 
by an official of the United States Govern-
ment or a State; 

(4) has a combined capital and surplus (as 
stated in its most recent published report of 
condition) of at least $3,000,000; and 

(5) if the trustee is to be approved under sub-
section (a)(4) of this section, meets any other 
requirements prescribed by the Secretary. 

(c) If the trustee at any time does not satisfy 
the qualifications of subsection (b) of this sec-
tion, the Secretary shall disapprove the trustee. 

(d) Except as provided in subsection (a) of this 
section, a right under a mortgage of a docu-
mented vessel may be issued, assigned, or trans-
ferred to a person not eligible to be a mortgagee 
of that vessel under section 31322 of this title 
only with the approval of the Secretary. 

(e) The vessel may be operated by the trustee 
only with the approval of the Secretary. 

(f) The issuance, assignment, or transfer of an 
instrument or evidence of indebtedness contrary 
to this section is void. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4746.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31328 ............................................ 46:808 (4th par.), 961(d), (e) 

Section 31328(a) imposes limitations on issuing, as-

signing, or transferring instruments or evidence of in-

debtedness secured by a mortgage to a person not 

qualifying as a citizen of the United States under sec-

tion 2 of the Shipping Act, 1916, without setting up a 

trust. However, the trustee must be a State, the United 

States Government, a person approved by the Sec-

retary as qualifying as a citizen of the United States, 

or any other person approved by the Secretary. This 

makes substantive changes to the law including broad-
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ening the types of persons that may be a trustee. In 

this section, the words ‘‘or a substitute trustee’’ have 

been deleted as unnecessary since the approval of a 

trustee inherently includes the approval of a substitute 

trustee. 
Section 31328(b) requires the Secretary to approve the 

trustee if the person meets certain specific require-

ments listed in this subsection and the regulations pre-

scribed under it. 
Section 31328(c) allows the Secretary to disapprove a 

trustee if at any time the trustee does not meet the re-

quirements of the Secretary and the prescribed regula-

tions. 
Section 31328(d) prohibits a right under a mortgage of 

a documented vessel from being issued, assigned, or 

transferred to a person not eligible to be a mortgagee 

unless the Secretary approves of that issuance, assign-

ment, or transfer. 
Section 31328(e) prohibits a vessel from being oper-

ated by a trustee acting on behalf of foreign holders of 

indebtedness unless the trustee has the Secretary’s ap-

proval. 
Section 31328(f) voids any issuance, assignment, or 

transfer of an instrument of indebtedness that is con-

trary to this section. This subsection makes no sub-

stantive change to law. 

SECTION REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This section is referred to in section 31330 of this 

title; section 808 of Appendix to this title. 

§ 31329. Court sales of documented vessels 

(a) A documented vessel may be sold by order 
of a district court only to— 

(1) a person eligible to own a documented 
vessel under section 12102 of this title; or 

(2) a mortgagee of that vessel. 

(b) When a vessel is sold to a mortgagee not el-
igible to own a documented vessel— 

(1) the vessel must be held by the mortgagee 
for resale; 

(2) the vessel held by the mortgagee is sub-
ject to section 902 of the Merchant Marine 
Act, 1936 (46 App. U.S.C. 1242); and 

(3) the sale of the vessel to the mortgagee is 
not a sale foreign within the terms of the first 
proviso of section 27 of the Merchant Marine 
Act, 1920 (46 App. U.S.C. 883). 

(c) Unless waived by the Secretary of Trans-
portation, a person purchasing a vessel by court 
order under subsection (a)(1) of this section or 
from a mortgagee under subsection (a)(2) of this 
section must document the vessel under chapter 
121 of this title. 

(d) The vessel may be operated by the mortga-
gee not eligible to own a documented vessel only 
with the approval of the Secretary. 

(e) A sale of a vessel contrary to this section 
is void. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4747.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31329 ............................................ 46:961(f) 

Section 31329 sets out certain restrictions on the 

court sale of a documented vessel. 
Section 31329(a) restricts the sale only to a person eli-

gible to own a documented vessel under section 12102 of 

title 46 or to the mortgagee, which may be a trustee 

acting as a holder of a preferred mortgage on a docu-

mented vessel for the benefit of a person not eligible to 

be the holder of a preferred mortgage on that vessel. 

Section 31329(b) sets out conditions on the sale to a 

trustee acting as a holder of a preferred mortgage on a 

documented vessel for the benefit of a person not eligi-

ble to be the holder of a preferred mortgage on that 

vessel. First, the vessel must be held by the trustee for 

resale. Second, while being held for resale, the vessel is 

subject to requisition or purchase during a national 

emergency under section 902 of the Merchant Marine 

Act, 1936 (46 App. U.S.C. 1242). And third, the sale of the 

vessel to the trustee is not a sale foreign within the 

terms of the First Proviso of section 27 of the Merchant 

Marine Act, 1920 (46 App. U.S.C. 883). 

Section 31329(c) requires a person that is eligible to 

document the vessel that purchases a vessel from the 

court to document the vessel. This subsection also re-

quires the person purchasing the vessel from the trust-

ee to document it, thereby restricting to whom the 

trustee can sell the vessel. Many documented vessels 

have no national defense utility, such as recreational 

vessels and fishing vessels. Therefore, both of these re-

strictions can be waived by the Secretary. As pre-

viously discussed, these waivers can be on a case-by- 

case basis or with a blanket waiver. 

Section 31329(d) prohibits a trustee from operating 

the vessel without the approval of the Secretary. 

Section 31329(e) voids any sale that is done contrary 

to this section. 

HOUSE FLOOR STATEMENT 

Under section 31329(d) a vessel may be operated by 

the trustee only with the approval of the Secretary. 

Under current law a vessel may be documented by a 

trust if all of the members of the trust are citizens of 

the United States. If the trust buying the vessel at the 

court sale includes foreign investors, the vessel cannot 

be documented. The Committee intends in this section 

that the vessel will only be ‘‘operated’’ in a mainte-

nance manner, but not in a commercial service. 

SECTION REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This section is referred to in section 31330 of this 

title. 

§ 31330. Penalties 

(a)(1) A mortgagor shall be fined under title 18, 
imprisoned for not more than 2 years, or both, if 
the mortgagor— 

(A) with intent to defraud, does not disclose 
an obligation on a vessel as required by sec-
tion 31323(a) of this title; 

(B) with intent to defraud, incurs a contrac-
tual obligation in violation of section 31323(b) 
of this title; 

(C) with intent to hinder or defraud an exist-
ing or future creditor of the mortgagor or a 
lienor of the vessel, files a mortgage with the 
Secretary of Transportation; or 

(D) with intent to defraud, does not comply 
with section 31321(h) of this title. 

(2) A mortgagor is liable to the United States 
Government for a civil penalty of not more than 
$10,000 if the mortgagor— 

(A) does not disclose an obligation on a ves-
sel as required by section 31323(a) of this title; 

(B) incurs a contractual obligation in viola-
tion of section 31323(b) of this title; 

(C) files with the Secretary a mortgage made 
not in good faith; or 

(D) does not comply with section 31321(h) of 
this title. 

(b)(1) A person that knowingly violates section 
31328 or 31329 of this title shall be fined under 
title 18, imprisoned for not more than 3 years, or 
both. 
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(2) A person violating section 31328 or 31329 of 
this title is liable to the Government for a civil 
penalty of not more than $25,000. 

(3) A vessel involved in a violation under sec-
tion 31328 or 31329 of this title and its equipment 
may be seized by, and forfeited to, the Govern-
ment. 

(c) If a person not an individual violates this 
section, the president or chief executive of the 
person also is subject to any penalty provided 
under this section. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4747.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31330(a) ........................................ 46:941(b) (1st sentence) 
31330(b) ........................................ New 
31330(c) ........................................ 46:941(b) (1st sentence) 

Section 31330(a) provides for criminal penalties for 

not disclosing obligations, incurring contractual obli-

gations in violation of section 31323(b), and filing a 

mortgage made not in good faith. This subsection 

makes a substantive change to law by adding civil pen-

alties and by making it a crime to record with the Sec-

retary of Transportation a mortgage made not in good 

faith with the intent to hinder an existing or future 

creditor of the mortgagor or a lienor of the vessel. This 

is done since the affidavit of good faith has been elimi-

nated from the elements of a preferred mortgage. 

Section 31330(b) adds criminal and civil penalties for 

violating the sale and trust requirements under sec-

tions 31328 and 31329. It also makes a vessel and its 

equipment involved in those violations subject to sei-

zure by the Government. 

Section 31330(c) makes the president or chief execu-

tive officer of a corporation or association liable as a 

mortgagor for the penalties under this section. 

HOUSE FLOOR STATEMENT 

Subsection (a) of this section adds criminal and civil 

penalties for a preferred mortgagor’s failure to carry 

out certain requirements under chapter 313 of title 46 

(as enacted by this Act). 

SECTION REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This section is referred to in section 31323 of this 

title. 

SUBCHAPTER III—MARITIME LIENS 

§ 31341. Persons presumed to have authority to 
procure necessaries 

(a) The following persons are presumed to 
have authority to procure necessaries for a ves-
sel: 

(1) the owner; 
(2) the master; 
(3) a person entrusted with the management 

of the vessel at the port of supply; or 
(4) an officer or agent appointed by— 

(A) the owner; 
(B) a charterer; 
(C) an owner pro hac vice; or 
(D) an agreed buyer in possession of the 

vessel. 

(b) A person tortiously or unlawfully in pos-
session or charge of a vessel has no authority to 
procure necessaries for the vessel. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4748; Pub. L. 101–225, title III, § 303(5), Dec. 
12, 1989, 103 Stat. 1924.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31341(a) ........................................ 46:972 (1st sentence), 973 
31341(b) ........................................ 46:972 (2d sentence) 

Section 31341(a) lists those persons who are presumed 

to have authority to procure necessaries for a vessel. 

These include the owner, master, or a manager at the 

port of supply; and an officer or agent appointed by the 

owner, charterer, owner pro hac vice, or buyer in posses-

sion of the vessel. This subsection makes no sub-

stantive change to law. 

Section 31341(b) provides that any person that is tor-

tiously or unlawfully in possession of or in charge of a 

vessel has no authority to procure necessaries. This 

subsection makes no substantive change to law. 

AMENDMENTS 

1989—Subsec. (a)(3). Pub. L. 101–225 substituted ‘‘man-

agement’’ for ‘‘mangement’’. 

SECTION REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This section is referred to in sections 31301, 31323 of 

this title. 

§ 31342. Establishing maritime liens 

(a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this 
section, a person providing necessaries to a ves-
sel on the order of the owner or a person author-
ized by the owner— 

(1) has a maritime lien on the vessel; 
(2) may bring a civil action in rem to enforce 

the lien; and 
(3) is not required to allege or prove in the 

action that credit was given to the vessel. 

(b) This section does not apply to a public ves-
sel. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4748; Pub. L. 101–225, title III, § 303(6), Dec. 
12, 1989, 103 Stat. 1924.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31342 ............................................ 46:971 

Section 31342 provides that any authorized person 

providing necessaries for a vessel has a maritime lien 

on the vessel, may bring a civil action in rem in admi-

ralty to enforce the lien, and is not required to allege 

or prove that credit was given to the vessel. ‘‘Provid-

ing’’ has been substituted for ‘‘furnishing’’ for consist-

ency with other laws. This section makes no sub-

stantive change to law. This section does not supersede 

the prohibition under the Public Vessels Act, the For-

eign Sovereign Immunities Act, or the Suits in Admi-

ralty Act, on bringing an in rem action against a public 

vessel. 

AMENDMENTS 

1989—Pub. L. 101–225 designated existing provisions as 

subsec. (a), substituted ‘‘Except as provided in sub-

section (b) of this section, a person providing nec-

essaries to a vessel on the order of the owner’’ for ‘‘A 

person providing necessaries to a vessel (except a pub-

lic vessel) on the order of a person listed in section 

31341 of this title’’, and added subsec. (b). 

§ 31343. Recording and discharging liens on pre-
ferred mortgage vessels 

(a) Except as provided under subsection (d) of 
this section, a person claiming a lien on a vessel 
covered by a preferred mortgage filed or re-
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corded under this chapter may record with the 
Secretary of Transportation a notice of that 
person’s lien claim on the vessel. To be record-
able, the notice must— 

(1) state the nature of the lien; 
(2) state the date the lien was established; 
(3) state the amount of the lien; 
(4) state the name and address of the person; 

and 
(5) be signed and acknowledged. 

(b) The Secretary shall record a notice com-
plying with subsection (a) of this section. 

(c) On full and final discharge of the indebted-
ness that is the basis for a claim recorded under 
subsection (b) of this section, on request of the 
Secretary or owner, the person having the claim 
shall provide the Secretary with an acknowl-
edged certificate of discharge of the indebted-
ness. The Secretary shall record the certificate. 

(d) A person claiming a lien on a vessel cov-
ered by a preferred mortgage under section 
31322(d) of this title must record and discharge 
the lien as provided by the law of the State in 
which the vessel is titled. 

(Pub. L. 100–710, title I, § 102(c), Nov. 23, 1988, 102 
Stat. 4748.) 

HISTORICAL AND REVISION NOTES 

Revised section Source section (U.S. Code) 

31343 ............................................ 46:925 

Section 31343 provides that any person claiming a lien 

on a vessel covered by a preferred mortgage may record 

a notice of lien. This notice must state the nature of 

the lien, date it was established; the amount; and the 

name and address of the person claiming a lien, and it 

must be acknowledged. The Secretary must record a 

notice of lien if it complies with these requirements. 

When any part of the indebtedness is discharged, the 

claimant shall provide the Secretary with a written, 

acknowledged certificate of discharge of the indebted-

ness, and the Secretary shall record the certificate. 

This section makes no substantive change to law. 

Section 31343(c) provides that, on the full and final 

discharge of an indebtedness that is the basis for a 

claim, the person having the claim shall provide the 

Secretary with an acknowledged certificate of dis-

charge on the request of the Secretary or owner of the 

vessel. This subsection makes a substantive change to 

law by not requiring partial discharges to be filed, as 

well as making the filing of discharge certificates only 

at the request of the Secretary or owner of the vessel. 

HOUSE FLOOR STATEMENT 

Subsection (d) of this section requires a person claim-

ing a lien on a vessel covered by a preferred mortgage 

under section 31322(d) to record and discharge the lien 

as provided by the law of the State in which the vessel 

is titled. 

SECTION REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This section is referred to in section 31325 of this 

title. 

[CHAPTER 315—RESERVED] 

CHAPTER REFERRED TO IN OTHER SECTIONS 

This chapter is referred to in section 30101 of this 

title. 


